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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICA.L APPEARANCE

Millbrook was built by Fielding Lewis in about 1752 for his bride 
Betty Washington, sister of George Washington who laid out the 
original survey of Fredericksburg where the house is located. Its 
name was changed in 1859 to Kenmore.

A fine period house of two-storeys with jerkinhead roof and a pair 
of stack chimneys at either end, the transcending importance of 
Kenmore derives from its extremely rich interior decoration and, to 
a lesser extent,from its superbly executed dwarf portico at the east 
front. It has been surmised that since it is one of the few Virginia 
mansions without a trace of either rubbed or gauged brick, it might 
have been intended to be stuccoed. According to Morrison, the group 
of plastered rooms at the ground level of Kenmore are, as a group, 
unparalelled anywhere in the country for their richness. They were 
executed ten to twenty years following the construction of the house, 
and tradition has it that they were done by intinerant French craftsmen, 
although all but one can be traced directly to the English pattern book 
by Batty Langley, Treasury of Designs, published in 1740.

The four stucco duro ceilings and overmantels at Kenmore are decidedly 
late-Georgian in style and may profitably be compared with the ceilings 
executed for George Washington at Mount Vernon. The latter are the 
earliest examples of the new style following the designs of the Adam 
brothers, and are markedly more attenuated, delicate, and light. The 
Kenmore comparison shows those, on the other hand, to be much heavier, 
thereby illustrating the development of taste in the middle of the 
century. Assuming that the decoration within is roughly contemporary 
with the house, Kenmore represents the first time that a Virginia 
mansion appears with its major rooms plastered.

The superb design of the great room ceiling has a center plan of ovals. 
A medallion of leafage is bordered by circular patterns formed of
rosettes, in which each small circle contains baskets of fruit and 
flowers. The design outside the circles is covered with ornament of 
vines and leafage in an intricately graceful form. In the corners outside 
the frame are four spandrel panels with cornuacopiae, leaves and ribbons. 
The ceilings in this room, according to Waterman, in beauty of design 
and execution, may perhaps be the very finest piece of American plaster- 
work.

The library ceiling is also closely related to that of the Drawing room, 
with a leaf medallion in the center, bordered by a series of circles 
formed of rosettes and enclosing baskets of fruit and flowers. These 
circles are tied to the design by concentric festoons of husks and 
pendants. The design of the motif was derived from Langley ! s plates in 
Builder's and Workman's Treasury of Designs. The corner compartments 
display plant symbols of the four seasons: palms for spring, grapes 
for summer, acorns for fall, and mistletoe for winter.
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Kenmore was erected about 1752 and contains probably the most richly 
decorated plaster interiors of any Georgian house in the country. 
Curiously, this superb elaboration is contained within a house of 
modest proportions and considerable restraint, although it is of 
such a standard to suggest that it was designed, rather than simply 
built. The extraodinary richness of the rooms on the ground floor 
are without peer in 18th century American architecture. The dwarf 
portico too on the East facade is executed with a superb sense of 
proportion and beauty.

Millbrook was built for Fielding Lewis and his wife Betty, the sister 
of George Washington who had laid out the original survey of Fredericks- 
burg, about 1752 when Lewis acquired 861 acres of land at that site. 
The 53 X 41 foot house is a handsome period structure with jerkin- 
head roof, brick string course, and well proportioned modillion cornice 
among its more interesting architectural features. After a succession 
of owners, Kenmore (so-called since 1859) became available for sale in 
1922 and through the efforts of a special chapter of the D.A.R., was 
purchased by the newly-organized Kenmore Association. The dependencies 
to the North and South were reconstructed on original foundations by 
the Association, while the gardens were restored and a brick wall built 
around the property by The Garden Club of Virginia.

The house is maintained by the Association in excellent condition 
and is open to the public daily. The site itself suffers seriously 
today from a highly-intrusive brick block building being built in 
the front yard.
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Finally, the Dining room ceiling is a net of strands formed of leafage 
and circles of daisies framing a nimbus radiating from a sculptured 
face. There is a concentric series of circles enclosing rosettes, forming 
a band, then a field of interlacing festoons beyond which the circles 
and rosettes reappear as a border.

The decoration of the mantels at Kenmore is in wood, except in the 
two north rooms which again are in stucco duro, or decorative plasterwork. 
The drawing room overmantel is famous as containing the bas-relief of 
Aesop's fable of the fox, the crow, and the cheese.

Kenmore is located today within an entirely developed residential area 
of Fredericksburg, on two lots of land owned by The Kenmore Association.
Only this minute portion of a once extensive holding remains around the 
house, unfortunately. The Association added a pair of flanking dependencies 
to the house during the 1920's, based upon the original foundations. Today 
they contain, respectively, a kitchen in which to prepare gingerbread for 
the tourists, and the offices of The Association. They were executed in a 
manner of Georgian-Revival architecture not out of character with the house, 
although they are in very close proximity to the house. On the other hand, 
under construction now, in the very front-yard of Kenmore, is a museum and 
visitor center-- a brick block-like building, without windows, of two storeys 
one of which is below ground. It is of such a size and location to seriously 
compete with and distract from the Landmark;

Fortunately, the essence of the Landmark status at Kenmore lies with 
the interiors, which are of unparalelled quality and true national signi­ 
ficance for this period. The East elevation too may be experienced with­ 
out intrusion, including the delicate and beautiful dwarf portico there. 
The only reasonable boundary for the Landmark today is that of the ownership 
lines of the Kenmore Assoication. Extending from the corner of Washington 
and Fauquier Streets 331 feet south, then 209 feet east, then 65 feet north, 
then 94 feet 6 inches east, then again north 28 feet, and then 110 feet 8 
inches east, then 237 feet North, and finally 412 feet 3 inches to the 
starting point at Washington and Fauquier Streets. A sketch map is attached 
with this form to illustrate those lines.
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